SUPREME COURT COPY

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

SUPREME COURT
FILED

JUN 1 1 2007

Frederick K. Ohlrich Clerk

Depuiy

S 150518

CALIFORNIA FARM BUREAU FEDERATION, ET AL.

Plaintiffs and Appellants,

v.

CALIFORNIA STATE WATER RESOURCES CONTROL BOARD, ET AL.,

Defendants and Respondents.

Court of Appeal, Third Appellate District, Case No. C050289 Sacramento County Superior Court Case Nos. 03CS01776, 04CS00473 The Honorable Raymond Cadei, Judge

RESPONDENTS' BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ISSUES PRESENTED

- 1. Does Sinclair Paint Co. v. State Bd. of Equalization (1997) 15 Cal.4th 866 (Sinclair Paint), mandate invalidation of an annual permit and license fee to support a regulatory program as an unconstitutional tax under the California Constitution, art. XIII A, section 3 (Proposition 13), if some beneficiaries of the regulatory program are exempt from the assessment because they do not hold a permit or license and are subject to significantly less regulation?
- 2. When analyzing an assessment under Proposition 13, may courts substitute their own independent judgment for the quasi-legislative judgment of the regulatory agency in deciding how best to allocate costs among the regulated parties?
- 3. The Supremacy Clause (U.S. Const., art. VI, § 2) does not bar a state from imposing a tax or fee in connection with property held by the United States as long as that property is used by a non-federal entity and the charge is based on that use or interest. Is the Supremacy Clause violated when regulatory fees on permits and licenses held by the federal government for the purpose of water delivery are imposed on the contractors who have the contractual rights for those deliveries?

///

STATEMENT

A. The fee legislation.

The SWRCB and its Division of Water Rights (Division) are responsible for the regulation of water rights in California. New legislation that took effect in fiscal year 2003-2004 aimed to shift most of the burden of water right regulation from the General Fund to the regulated community of state water right permit and license holders by enacting new, annual permit and license fees and increasing the existing filing fees. (Wat. Code, § 1525, subd. (a) [establishing the annual permit and license fees]; Slip op., pp. 2, 13.) The fees cover essentially all of the activities that comprise the SWRCB's water right program. (Wat. Code, § 1525, subd. (c).) The fees are deposited in the Water Rights Fund. (*Id.*, § 1525, subd. (d)(1); *id.*, § 1550.) Monies in the Water Rights Fund are "available for expenditure, upon appropriation by the Legislature" to carry out the statutory purposes of the SWRCB's water right program. (*Id.*, § 1552.)

For fiscal year 2003-2004, the Legislature directed that the new fees would provide about half of the water right program's funding. (Appendix 2473.) The total cost of the program for fiscal year 2003-2004 was about \$9 million. (Slip op., p. 21, fn. 16.) To implement the fee-based funding in fiscal year 2003-2004, the law required SWRCB to adopt emergency regulations immediately (slip op., p. 21) to collect a budget "target" for the Water Rights Fund of about \$4.4 million. (Appellants' Appendix ("Appendix") 2341-2342; 2473 [Budget Act specifies \$4.4 million in fee revenues].) Amounts payable from other funds covered the difference between the \$9

million budget for the water right program (Appendix 2341 [schedule item 2] and the \$4.4 million in regulatory fees deposited into the Water Rights Fund (Appendix 2342 [schedule item 21.5]).

B. The SWRCB's extensive regulation of permits and licenses, and its limited regulation of other water rights.

The annual fees at issue in this lawsuit are imposed on the group of water right users -- users of water held under state permits and licenses -- that account for about 95 percent of the SWRCB's regulatory efforts. (Appendix 2298; Water Code, §§ 102, 174, 1201-1202.) The lower court recognized, and plaintiffs concede, that the agency has very limited authority over various types of water rights that, under California law, exist independently of the permit and license scheme-including riparian, pueblo, and appropriative rights acquired prior to 1914. (See slip op., p. 7 [SWRCB's "core regulatory program, the administration of water right permits and licenses, does not apply" to holders of other types of water rights]; see also Appendix 1200:9-10 [plaintiff's brief claiming SWRCB has *no* authority over pre-1914 water rights] and 3289:13-25 [transcript of trial court hearing discussing plaintiff's claim that SWRCB lacks jurisdiction over non-permitted and licensed water rights].) Indeed, the SWRCB estimates that it spends only a de minimis amount (about five percent) of its time

A riparian water right "confers upon the owner of land contiguous to a water course the right to the reasonable and beneficial use of water on his land." (*People v. Shirokow* (1980) 26 Cal.3d 301 quoting *City of Pasadena v. City of Alhambra* (1949) 33 Cal.2d 908, 925.) The riparian right does not include a right to use water on parcels that are not adjacent to and in the watershed of the stream.

regulating the water rights that are not subject to the annual fees at issue in this lawsuit. (Appendix 2298; Wat. Code, § 1525.)

The SWRCB regulates the complex system of water rights in California to bring order and certainty to the system as well as to protect the public interest. (See Appendix 2679-2686.) The SWRCB must act to ensure that each permittee and licensee is obeying the terms and conditions of the permits or licenses under which they hold their water rights. The SWRCB may periodically reevaluate those terms and conditions because what constitutes both a reasonable and beneficial use can change over time. (Appendix 2100 [permit describing SWRCB's continuing authority over "all rights and privileges under this permit and under any license issued pursuant thereto"].) Even after the permittee has obtained a license, the SWRCB may revoke the license if it finds that the licensee has not put or has ceased to put the water to a useful and beneficial purpose or has not complied with any of the terms and conditions of the license. (Wat. Code, § 1675.)

The SWRCB also has authority to ensure that the waters of the State are put to full beneficial use and to prevent waste, unreasonable use, unreasonable method of use or unreasonable method of diversion (Cal. Const., art. X, § 2; Wat. Code, §§ 100, 275; Joerger v. Pacific Gas & Elec. Co. (1929) 207 Cal. 8, 22); protect the public trust (National Audubon Society v. Superior Court (1983) 33 Cal.3d 419); and avoid or minimize any harm to natural and public trust resources where feasible. (See, e.g., Appendix 2847-2854 [SWRCB Decision directing action to avoid adverse impact of water project on wildlife habitat and irreplaceable oak trees]; Appendix 2090-2101

[permit for diversion and use of water containing terms to protect recreational uses of various lakes involved and requiring mitigation plan to prevent wastewater discharges from the project from unreasonably affecting wildlife or aquatic habitat].)

C. The SWRCB's regulations implementing the fees.

After considerable review and two public workshops, the SWRCB decided to impose annual fees that are proportional to the "face value" of the permits or licenses (i.e., the total amount of water that theoretically could be diverted in any year under a permit or license). (Cal.Code Regs., tit. 23, § 1066.) In so doing, the SWRCB rejected several other options.

The agency decided against basing the fees on *actual* water usage, as opposed to the face value of the permit or license: "Staff also does not recommend basing the fee on the amount of water actually diverted or used, as this information is not submitted to the SWRCB on an annual basis, and the SWRCB cannot annually calculate or adjust fee revenues accurately using this approach." (Appendix 2305; *id.*, 2305-2306 [explaining the difficulties]; 2507-2520 [issue paper studying whether SRWCB could assess fees based on actual water usage].)

The SWRCB also rejected a "fee-for-service" approach, under which each water right holder or applicant is charged based on the time spent reviewing that person's proposals or activities, as infeasible because the program is a regulatory program and is not based on requested "services." (Appendix 2304-2305; 2473-2474 [Notice of Public Workshops].) Funding for the program must be stable because continuing regulatory oversight requires constant SWRCB administration. Sporadic, one-time

filing fees are insufficient to support an ongoing regulatory program.

Furthermore, water right regulation is necessarily complex because of the interlocking nature of water rights. (E.g., Slip op., pp. 4-12 [describing complex system of water rights]; Appendix 2508 [describing irrigation district claiming to hold 47 water rights including riparian, prescriptive, pre-1914 and appropriative rights, many of which combine water, making it impossible to segregate water use and determine annual use of a particular right].) Because of this complexity, the calculation of precise actual costs would be difficult, if not impossible, and unjustifiably increase the administrative costs of the fee. (Appendix 2249:11 - 2250:24.)

Moreover, collecting precise actual costs would entail much higher filing fees (e.g., \$23,000 per application), increasing the likelihood of unauthorized diversions and a greater enforcement burden. (Appendix 2423.) Annual fees are less expensive to administer and provide certainty to the regulated community regarding the amount of fees to be assessed.

The SWRCB determined that protecting other water right holders represents a substantial portion of the cost of processing water right applications and petitions, including the consideration of protests from permit and license holders. (Appendix 2304.) More broadly, a substantial portion of the SWRCB's costs are related to actions that are for the primary purpose of managing existing permitted and licensed water rights.

For these reasons, the SWRCB determined that the annual fees would most reasonably apportion the costs of regulation and should provide most of the fee

funding. (Appendix 2304-2305; see *id.*, 2354-2377 [presentation at workshops explaining fee regulations].) It adopted fee regulations that, while substantially increasing the one-time filing fees related to the permit and license system (e.g., application and petition fees), kept these filing fees relatively low to encourage voluntary filings and to reduce enforcement problems associated with unauthorized diversions. (Appendix 2423.)

To meet the Legislature's target amount for fiscal year 2003-2004, \$4.4 million, the SWRCB set the annual fees at the greater of \$100 or \$0.03 per acre-foot based on the "face value" of the permit or license, not the amount that was actually used or delivered. (Appendix 2438; *id.*, 2453 [former Cal. Code Regs., tit. 23, § 1066, subd. (a) (2004)]; see Wat. Code, § 1530, subd. (a) [permitting fee schedules to be "graduated in accordance with the number of diversions or the amount of water involved"]; Appendix 2429-2430.) It is important to note that the "face value" almost always exceeds the actual amount of water that can be used or diverted–sometimes vastly so–for a variety of reasons, including for example regulatory restrictions that require a permittee to allow a minimum flow downstream and limits on the availability of water. (Appendix 2121-2122; *id.*, 2306 [explaining "face value"]; see e.g., *id.*, 2093-2095

² In 2004, section 1066 was amended to change the way the fees were calculated: "A person who holds a water right permit or license shall pay a minimum annual fee of \$100. If the total annual amount of diversion authorized by the permit or license is greater than 10 acre-feet, then the permittee or licensee shall pay an additional \$0.025 for each acre-foot in excess of 10 acre-feet." The rate per acre-foot can change on a yearly basis to reflect the adjustment required under section 1525, subdivision (d)(3) of the Water Code.

[permit items 8-11] and 2099 [item 31].)

The SWRCB used the face value of the permit or license to set the annual fee, reasoning that, in general, the more water held under the permit or license, the greater the regulatory burden. In general, larger projects have greater environmental impacts, involve more controversial issues, and affect a greater number of people, correspondingly increasing the costs of regulation. (Appendix 2243:17 - 2244:15; Cal. Code Regs., tit. 23, § 1066, subd. (a).)

In setting the \$100 minimum annual fee, the SWRCB took into consideration the cost of billing the fees as well as an estimate of the minimum amount of time spent regulating smaller water rights. (Appendix 2307, 2382-2427 [worksheets for fee system development]; 2242:20-24 [explanatory testimony]; Administrative Record 2.)

About 20 percent of the face value of all state permitted and licensed water rights are held by the United States Bureau of Reclamation ("Bureau") for the Central Valley Project ("CVP"). The Legislature addressed the likelihood that the Bureau would claim sovereign immunity and refuse to pay the fees by enacting statutes to allow for these fees to be imposed on the federal water contractors instead of the Bureau. (Slip op., p. 11; Wat Code, §§ 1540, 1560; slip op., p. 19, fn. 15.)

Accordingly, the SWRCB imposed the annual fees for permits and licenses held by the Bureau for the purpose of water delivery on the CVP contractors who hold the contractual right to the water developed under the Bureau's CVP permits and licenses. (Cal. Code Regs., tit. 23, §§ 1071, 1073; Appendix 2332 [main purpose of CVP is to supply water]; see Appendix 2322 et seq. [examples of contracts]; slip op.,

pp. 24-25 [describing the regulatory allocation to the CVP contractors].) The regulations also provide a fifty percent discount for all of the Bureau's hydropower permits and licenses (for pumping the water) not subject to licensing by the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission (FERC), effectively further reducing the face value of the Bureau's permits and licenses. (Appendix 2307-2308; *id.*, 2294 [errata to discussion].) The federal contractors pay only the annual fees for the permits and licenses associated with their projects; they do not pay any other fees, such as any application and petition filing fees associated with CVP water rights.

Together, sections 1066 [annual fees] and 1073 [imposition of annual fees on federal contractors] of the California Code of Regulations, title 23, impose annual fees on all water rights subject to permit and license. (Wat. Code, § 1525, subd. (a).)

Regulation of appropriations subject to permit and license constitutes the core of the SWRCB water right program –accounting for about 95 percent of all expenditures —and appropriations under permit and license amount to about 60 percent of all water diverted under all water rights. (Appendix 2298; see slip op., p. 55 [Appendix to Opinion].) The regulations impose annual permit and license fees on all permits and licenses, either directly (section 1066) or indirectly (section 1073). As it does for many other fee programs, BOE acts as the SWRCB's collector for the annual fees, but it does not have any authority to review SWRCB's fee determinations. (Wat. Code, § 1537, subd. (b)(2)-(3); slip op. p. 51.)

///

D. Trial court proceedings.

After the denial of their petitions for reconsideration challenging the fees, persons subject to the annual permit and license fees filed lawsuits against SWRCB and BOE to challenge the constitutionality of the statutes and the validity of the regulations. The consolidated action (brought as writs of administrative mandate and complaints for declaratory relief) alleges that the fee statutes and regulations are unconstitutional because they fail to meet the test for a valid regulatory fee. Plaintiffs contend: (1) the fees collected exceed the regulatory program costs they are designed to support; and (2) there are insufficient facts to support the basis for determining the manner in which the costs are apportioned, so that charges allocated have not been shown to bear a fair or reasonable relationship to the payer's burdens on or benefits from the regulatory activity. (Slip op., p. 26.) Plaintiffs allege, among other things, that requiring state permit and license holders to pay for most of the program, when 40 percent of all water rights in the state are held under other types of rights, is not reasonably related to the burdens imposed or the benefits received. They also allege that the SWRCB's fee schedule is invalid because it is not based on actual costs. Finally, they allege that the imposition of fees associated with the CVP on the water supply contractors violates the Supremacy Clause of the United States Constitution. (U.S. Const., art. VI, § 2.)

Plaintiffs seek declarations of the invalidity of the statutes and regulations imposing the annual water right fees, injunctive relief against their enforcement, and on that basis, refunds of all fees paid. (Appendix 25-26 [NCWA's Verified Complaint, Prayer for Relief]; Appendix 154 [NCWA's First Amended Verified Complaint, Prayer

for Relief]; Clerk's Augmented Transcript on Appeal 37-40 [Farm Bureau's Verified Complaint for Declaratory and Injunctive Relief and Petition for Writ of Mandate, Prayer for Relief].) The statutes require a writ of administrative mandamus to obtain the requested refunds. (Wat. Code, § 1537, subd. (b)(2)-(3).)

In 2005, the trial court entered its judgment denying the consolidated petitions for writ of mandate and complaints for declaratory and injunctive relief. The trial court held that all of the activities funded by section 1525 fees bear a "sufficiently close relation to the regulation of water rights that they may be legitimately considered to be part of the water rights regulatory program." (Appendix 3363:1-2.) Giving deference to the agency's factual findings and considerations in allocating the fees, the trial court found that the SWRCB satisfied the requirements of law in developing its fee structure: "[T]he fee structure . . . was not adopted on a merely arbitrary basis, but was developed after careful consideration of factors specific to the regulatory program of the Division of Water Rights." (Appendix 3364:7-10.)

E. Court of Appeal proceedings.

In January 2007, the Court of Appeal issued its opinion upholding the fee statutes but striking down the regulations based on its conclusion that the fee allocation made by the regulations failed to meet the test for a valid regulatory fee. (Slip op., pp. 30, 43, and 44.) Although the Court of Appeal held that the statutes imposed valid regulatory fees (slip op., p. 29), it invalidated the water right fee regulations because the court found (1) section 1066 violates Proposition 13 by failing to show the basis for apportioning costs as between fee payers subject to annual permit and license fees and

other types of water right holders who are not, but who "benefit" from the regulatory program (slip op., pp. 40-43); and (2) the allocation of most of the Bureau's fees to the federal water contractors under section 1073 violates the Supremacy Clause because the Court of Appeal found that the SWRCB did not determine what share of the costs of regulating the CVP should be allocated to the contractors (slip op., pp. 44-45).

ARGUMENT

I.

Proposition 13 allows the annual fees to be charged only to permit and license holders, because persons who are exempt from the water right permit and license program are subject to significantly less, and qualitatively different, state regulatory authority than permittees and licensees.

The test for a valid fee under Proposition 13 requires the state to show (1) "the estimated costs of the service or regulatory activity, and (2) the basis for determining the manner in which the costs are apportioned, so that charges allocated to a payor bear a fair or reasonable relationship to the payor's burdens on or benefits from the regulatory activity." (Sinclair Paint, supra, 15 Cal.4th at p. 878, quoting San Diego Gas & Electric Co. v. San Diego County Air Pollution Control Dist. (1988) 203 Cal.App.3d 1132, 1146 (SDG&E).)

In this case, the "regulatory activity" is the SWRCB's regulation of California water rights. The key question here is whether it is "reasonable" for the state to impose the fee on the parties that account for 95 percent of the regulatory burden and exempt persons who are not subject to the SWRCB's "core" regulatory program and who are regulated only to a de minimis extent. (See e.g., *Kern County Farm Bureau v. County*

of Kern (1993) 19 Cal.App.4th 1416, 1423 [stating the issue as whether fees may be assessed based on broad classifications].) The Court of Appeal misidentified the regulatory activity and struck down the SWRCB's allocation of the costs between state permittees and licensees and other types of water right holders who are exempt from the requirement for a permit or license.

A. The estimated cost of the regulatory activity is stated in the Budget Act.

The first prong of the *Sinclair Paint* test requires the state to show the "estimated costs" of the service or regulatory activity. (*Sinclair Paint, supra*, 15 Cal.4th at p. 878.) It assists the court to determine whether the funds are raised to support the regulatory program, or for general revenue purposes. This prong is usually easy to satisfy, as long as the regulatory activity is correctly identified.

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