SUPREME (AT COP)

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIAME COURT FILED

CALIFORNIA FARM BUREAU FEDERATION, ET AL.

JUL 1 1 2007

Fraderick K. Ohinat Clark

Deputy

Plaintiffs and Appellants,

S 150518

CALIFORNIA STATE WATER RESOURCES CONTROL BOARD, ET AL.,

v.

Defendants and Respondents.

Court of Appeal, Third Appellate District, Case No. C050289 Sacramento County Superior Court Case Nos. 03CS01776, 04CS00473 The Honorable Raymond Cadei, Judge

STATE'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS TO BRIEF OF CALIFORNIA FARM BUREAU FEDERATION

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

The point of the *Sinclair Paint* test is to ensure that the funds are being used to support the regulatory program, and not for some unrelated purpose. The statutorily-

mandated "annual adjustment" ensures that the fees are used solely for the costs of the regulatory program for which they are collected.

Feepayers can assure themselves that the SWRCB is adjusting the fees annually, so that fee revenues carried over from previous years are credited against future fees and not allowed to build up in the Water Rights Fund indefinitely. The California Department of Finance maintains a public web site that includes the Governor's budget and reports on fund conditions and previous years' expenditures. No more detailed accounting is required.

The Farm Bureau assumes the fees must be set with a precision not required by the case law. But a fee system that reasonably apportions fees overall is not invalid, either in general or as applied to a particular fee payer, because facts specific to that particular fee payer indicate that the fee may have been high as applied to that fee payer. (*CAPS*, *supra*, 79 Cal.App.4th at pp. 954-955.)

In sum, the Farm Bureau's case rests on its disagreement with the Legislature's decision to shift the cost of regulating water rights from the backs of general taxpayers to permitted and licensed water right users. Because the fee structure, as set up by the statutes and implemented through the regulations, meets the test for a valid fee, the Farm Bureau must seek legislative, not judicial, intervention to achieve its goals.

Courts do not have the power to fashion a refund remedy when the Legislature has provided one.

In striking down the SWRCB's regulations, the Court of Appeal stated that only persons or entities who paid annual fees and filed timely petitions for reconsideration [which together, the court noted, constituted a "claim for refund"] (slip op., p. 52) were entitled to receive a refund. The Farm Bureau claims that the "procedural hoops the Court of Appeal imposed" will result in windfall to the SWRCB in illegal taxes. (Farm Bureau, p. 6.) The Court of Appeal, however, did not impose these "procedural hoops" (Farm Bureau, p. 6). The Legislature did. (Wat. Code, § 1537, subd. (b); see Cal. Const. art. III, § 5 [suits may be brought against the state in such manner and in such courts as shall be directed by law].) The Farm Bureau makes the novel argument that, if a person fails to proceed in the manner required by law to obtain a refund from the State, a court may remedy that failure. No inequity exists to require such a novel result. The remedy is clear, and hundreds of persons, including eight individual members of the Farm Bureau, followed the law's direction.⁵

The Farm Bureau did not raise the issue of the validity of its petition for reconsideration in its opening brief or its reply brief to the Court of Appeal. Consequently, the Court of Appeal did not rule on this issue.

The SWRCB determined that the state and county farm bureaus and their unnamed, individual members did not file petitions for reconsideration. (Clerk's Augmented Transcript on Appeal (CATA), pp. 173-175; [SWRCB Order WRO 2004-0010 - EXEC, pp. 5-7].) The SWRCB refused to accept the Farm Bureau petition to the extent it purported to seek review of any fee determinations other than those of the eight specifically named fee payers. (CATA, p. 174.) Persons who did not file valid petitions for reconsideration are not entitled to a refund. (cont. next page)

A. The issue of whether administrative exhaustion is required even if the agency cannot grant the relief requested is not presented.

The Farm Bureau argues that administrative exhaustion is not required here because the SWRCB does not have the power to grant the relief sought: i.e., to receive a refund based on the statute's unconstitutionality, because it has no authority to rule a statute unconstitutional. (Farm Bureau, p. 54.) That issue is not presented by this case. The Court of Appeal upheld the statute; it struck down the *regulations*.

While a petition for reconsideration cannot be filed to challenge the mere adoption of fee regulations, the SWRCB has the authority to declare the regulations unconstitutional when the SWRCB has made a determination based on the regulations imposing the fee and the fee payer files a petition for reconsideration challenging that fee determination. (See Wat. Code, § 1537, subd. (b)(2).) Water Code section 1537, subdivision (b)(4), specifies that the provisions of section 1537, subdivision (b) shall not be construed to make the adoption of regulations subject to the statutory reconsideration procedures. But this language simply avoids expanding the circumstances under which a petition for reconsideration may be filed. By its terms, it does not exclude from consideration any issues that would otherwise be subject to review in a properly filed petition for reconsideration. It avoids any implication that the SWRCB's action in

Similarly, persons who filed a timely petition for reconsideration but did not timely seek judicial review of the SWRCB's denial of the petition are not entitled to any refund because the decision has become final and, by statute, is not subject to judicial review: "If no aggrieved party petitions for a writ of mandate within the time provided by this section, the decision or order of the board is not subject to review by any court." (Wat. Code, § 1126, subd. (d).)

adopting regulations, a quasi-legislative action, is subject to the procedures for petitions for reconsideration, which apply to adjudicative decisions and orders. (Wat. Code, § 1120.) This prevents petitions for reconsideration from being filed at the time regulations are adopted, before they are applied in a fee determination. It does not immunize the regulations from review as part of a petition for reconsideration or subsequent petition for writ of administrative mandate challenging a fee determination applying the regulations to the fee payer.

Water Code section 1537, subdivision (b)(4) serves both to avoid delays before the fee regulations take effect, and to avoid making fee payers file petitions for reconsideration at the time the regulations are adopted. (See Wat. Code, §§ 1122, 1126, subd. (e).) The SWRCB has the authority to recognize that its own regulations are unconstitutional (or otherwise flawed). (See generally *Woods v. Superior Court* (1981) 28 Cal.3d 668, 680 [an invalid regulation is subject to attack in administrative proceedings].) Thus, the Court of Appeal properly limited the refund to parties who exhausted their administrative remedies, in accordance with settled law. (*Abelleira v. District Court of Appeal* (1941) 17 Cal.2d 280, 292-293; *Patane v. Kiddoo* (1985) 167 Cal.App.3d 1207, 1214; see *Modern Barber Colleges, Inc. v. California Employment Stabilization Comm.* (1948) 31 Cal.2d 720, 725-726 [due process clause does not guarantee the right to judicial review of tax liability before payment].)

B. Exhaustion of administrative remedies is a jurisdictional prerequisite where mandated by statute.

Regardless of whether a challenge is to the constitutionality of the statutes or the validity of the regulations, however, the Farm Bureau identifies no conflict of law on the issue of whether a feepayer can bypass an administrative process mandated by statute. "[I]t has long been the law in this state that where an administrative remedy is provided by statute, relief must be sought from the administrative body and this remedy exhausted before the courts will act." (Marquez v. Gourley (2003) 102 Cal.App.4th 710, 713 [citing Abelleira v. District Court of Appeal, supra, 17 Cal.2d at p. 292 and other cases].) The exhaustion of administrative remedies "is not a matter of judicial discretion, but is a fundamental rule of procedure laid down by courts of last resort, followed under the doctrine of stare decisis, and binding upon all courts. . . . [E]xhaustion of the administrative remedy is a jurisdictional prerequisite to resort to the courts." (Abelleira v. District Court of Appeal, supra, 17 Cal.2d 280, 293 [italics in the original].)

Here, most notably, the requirement to exhaust administrative remedies is mandated by the statute. (Wat. Code, § 1537, subd. (b)(2)-(3).) No refund may be issued by BOE unless "the determination has been set aside by [the SWRCB] or a court reviewing the determination of [the SWRCB]." (Id., § 1537, subd. (b)(3).) A petition for reconsideration is required to exhaust administrative remedies in cases where, as here, the decision is issued under authority delegated to an officer or employee of the SWRCB. (Id., § 1126, subd. (b).) The actual fee bill sent out by BOE is the "Notice of

Decision" by the Division of Water Rights setting that person's fee based on the regulations and the SWRCB's database. (CATA, p. 172 and fn. 5.) Consequently, the judicially developed rule of exhaustion of administrative remedies (and the exceptions thereto) have no application here, where the Legislature has provided the manner of proceeding. (*Patane v. Kiddoo, supra,* 167 Cal.App.3d at p. 1214.)

There are other reasons for requiring the exhaustion of administrative remedies. An exception that allowed litigants to avoid the requirement to exhaust administrative remedies by stating a constitutional cause of action would swallow the general rule. Under such reasoning, a litigant challenging the constitutionality of a statute enforced by the agency should skip the superior court and go directly to the appellate court, since the agency must continue to enforce a statute until an *appellate* court – not the superior court – has declared the statute unconstitutional. (Cal. Const., art. III, § 3.5(a).)

Moreover, a petition for reconsideration must contain certain information, including the specific order or decision for which it seeks review. (Cal. Code Regs., tit. 23, §§ 769, 1077.) This specificity is required "to enable the SWRCB to know exactly which fee determinations are before it, for purposes of its own review, for purposes of notifying BOE which bills to adjust. . . and for purposes of judicial review." (CATA, p. 173.)⁶ To allow a fee payer to bypass the specific administrative refund procedures required would deprive the agency of stability and certainty regarding its funding and

Parties to the consolidated actions who are petitioners for reconsideration are set forth in the attachments to the SWRCB's orders on the petitions for reconsideration. (See Appendix, p. 297 et seq. and fn. 1; Admin. Record, pp. 3106-3114, 3170-3172, 3143.)

financial planning.

In addition, to allow a fee payer to bypass the administrative process deprives an agency of an opportunity to remedy any factual errors at the administrative level. An agency might make relevant factual findings regarding the fee as applied to that particular fee payer, as it did here. (E.g., CATA, p. 191.) The SWRCB can check the fee calculations and the facts, and in response to meritorious claims, direct BOE to refund or cancel fees, as appropriate.

It can also show the petitioner the agency's legal arguments in support of the fee.

The SWRCB did not "summarily deny" the Farm Bureau's petition. (See Farm Bureau,
p. 56.) The order denying reconsideration of the Farm Bureau's petition devoted over
15 pages to the constitutional issues raised. (Appendix 2488-2503.)

Under the Farm Bureau's theory, an administrative agency would have to bear the burden of trying to identify exactly who is subject to a court's order and, in a factual vacuum, determine the proper refund and recipient. It is the agency that would be unreasonably burdened, not the court system. No court can fashion a remedy for the fee payers who are not properly before it. (*Jordan v. Department of Motor Vehicles* (1999) 75 Cal.App.4th 449, 466-468.) In sum, it is well-established that review of the SWRCB's determination regarding a refund may not be had absent exhaustion of administrative remedies.

C. The provisions of Revenue and Taxation Code section 55221 are not applicable.

The Farm Bureau argues that the "plain language" of the Revenue and Taxation Code section 55221 requires the refund of illegal fees to all who paid them. The Farm Bureau persists in its mistaken presumption that Revenue and Taxation Code section 55221 is applicable to claims for refund of the water right fees, which it is not. (Farm Bureau, pp. 56-59.)

The applicable statutes are in the Water Code. Water Code section 1537 provides that BOE "shall *collect* the fees pursuant to the Fee Collection Procedures Law [Rev. & Tax. Code, § 55001 et seq.]." (Wat. Code, § 1537, subd. (b)(1) [italics added].) "Notwithstanding the appeal provisions in the Fee Collection Procedures Law," however, a fee determination by the SWRCB is subject to review under Water Code section 1120 et seq. (*Id.*, § 1537, subd. (b)(2).) And finally, "[n]otwithstanding the *refund* provisions of the Fee Collection Procedures Law," BOE cannot accept any claim for refund unless that determination has been set aside by the SWRCB or a court *reviewing the SWRCB's determination*. (*Id.*, § 1537, subd. (b)(3) [italics added].)

Accordingly, the Court of Appeal correctly found that section 55221 is not applicable. (Slip op., p. 19 ["the BOE has no role in reviewing refund claims under section 1537 or the emergency regulations"].) It found that the governing statutes in the Water Code limited BOE's typical role under the Revenue and Taxation Code:

As we explained, the SWRCB contracts with the BOE to collect and refund annual fees. Sections 1126 and 1537 and regulations 1074 and 1077 limit the BOE's typical role under the Fee Collection Procedures Law (Rev. & Tax. Code, § 55001 et seq.). Thus it is for the SWRCB, not

the BOE, to determine whether "a person or entity is required to pay a fee" and whether the amount of the fee was incorrectly calculated. (Cal. Code Regs., tit. 23, § 1077, subd. (c)."

(Slip op., pp. 51-52 [footnote omitted].) Revenue and Taxation Code section 55221 refers to a determination by the BOE, not the SWRCB. (See Farm Bureau, p. 56 citing Rev. & Tax. Code, § 55221, subd. (a).)

Further, the Court of Appeal correctly found that review of a water right fee refund determination is "by writ of mandate in the superior court, not by petition for redetermination by the BOE." (Slip op., p. 52; Wat. Code, § 1537, subd. (b)(2).) It also recognized that BOE is "authorized to accept a refund claim only after the SWRCB or a reviewing court has set the fee determination aside." (Slip op., p. 52, citing Wat. Code, § 1537, subd. (b)(3).) Accordingly, the Court of Appeal correctly limited refunds to "persons and entities who paid annual fees and filed petitions for reconsideration" which together constitute a "claim for refund" under the regulations. (Slip op., p. 53.)

The Farm Bureau argues that a petition for reconsideration is not required to challenge the adoption of regulations. (Farm Bureau, p. 58.) Of course, any party may seek prospective, declaratory relief to have the statutes or regulations declared invalid without exhausting administrative remedies. (Govt. Code, § 11350, subd. (a); see *Pacific Motor Transport Co. v. State Bd. of Equalization* (1972) 28 Cal.App.3d 230 [allowing prepayment declaratory action to test the validity of a tax regulation subject to the rulemaking provisions of the California Administrative Procedure Act].) As discussed above, Water Code section 1537, subdivision (b)(4) provides that the reconsideration provisions of the Water Code shall not be construed to apply to the

adoption of the regulations, as opposed to their application to individual fee payers through determinations that they are subject to fees and the amount of the applicable fee. Declaratory relief may be sought when the fee regulations are adopted, but the remedy of declaratory relief is not the same as the remedy of a refund.

The Farm Bureau is well aware of the difference. Here, the Farm Bureau combined a writ of administrative mandate seeking a refund of the water right fees with an action for declaratory relief seeking to strike down the statutes and regulations as invalid. (See e.g., CATA, p. 1.) Only those named individuals who filed valid petitions for reconsideration and exhaust their administrative and judicial remedies through the statutory procedures for a refund claim may be entitled to the remedy of a refund.

D. The Takings Clause is not implicated by the requirement of the exhaustion of administrative remedies.

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